

TO: HELLENIC REPUBLIC MINISTRY OF DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENTS GENERAL SECRETARIAT FOR PUBLIC INVESTMENTS-NSRF NATIONAL COORDINATION AUTHORITY

«EUSAIR FACILITY POINT

(European Strategy for the Adriatic-Ionian Region)»

CONTRACT:

Technical support for the development of a roadmap for improving the capacity and effectiveness of selected stakeholders and beneficiaries and the identification of actions for strengthening their capacities

Thematic Paper

Strengthening of innovation related capacities:

Multilevel use of marine space with investigation into the compatibility of activities in the conduct of sustainable Blue Growth: RES – fisheries/fish farming – maritime governance – tourism.



LDK CONSULTANTS ENGINEERS AND PLANNERS S.A.

Off 21, Thivaidos Str 145 64 Kifissia Tel. 210 8169700, Fax: 210 8196709 Email: <u>main@ldk.gr</u> Web: <u>www.ldk.gr</u>





EU Strategy for the Adriatic and Ionian Region **EUSAIR**

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	INTR	ODUCTION	.3			
2	INNOVATION4					
	2.1	INNOVATION DEFINITIONS	4			
	2.2	TYPOLOGY OF INNOVATION	4			
	2.3	INNOVATION DEVELOPMENT MECHANISM	5			
	2.3.1	Strategic approach	5			
	2.3.2	Quadruple (Quintuple)-Helix Contribution	6			
	2.4	BLUE GROWTH TO BLUE ECONOMY	6			
	2.4.1	European Commission Policies	6			
	2.4.2	OECD-Rethinking Innovation for a Sustainable Ocean Economy	7			
	2.4.3	Smart Specialisation Strategies and Sustainable Blue Economy	8			
	2.5	INNOVATION IN EUSAIR STRATEGY	9			
	2.5.1	EUSAIR Innovators-Innovation Integrators	9			
	2.5.2	Correlation to RIS Strategies- MRS3 AIR 1	0			
	2.5.3	Innovation and EUSAIR Pillar I Flagships 2021-2027 1	1			
	2.6	INNOVATION IN FISHERIES & AQUACULTURE 1	.2			
	2.6.1	Fisheries 1	2			
	2.6.2	Aquaculture	3			
3	MUL	TILEVEL USE OF MARITIME SPACE1	.5			
	3.1	RATIONAL	.5			
	3.2	INVOLVED STAKEHOLDERS	.9			
	3.3	KEY CHALLENGES AND IDENTIFIED NEEDS	9			
	3.4	SWOT ANALYSIS	!1			
4	RECO	2 2 2 2 2 2	23			
	4.1	RECOMMENDATIONS	23			
	4.2	INNOVATION SECRETARIAT	26			
	4.3	Sources of funding	27			
5	CON	CLUSIONS – NEXT STEPS2	29			
6	ANN	EX	80			
	6 1		<u> </u>			
	0.1 <i>E</i> 1 1	EUJAIK SIKATEGT	0			
	6.2		22			
	0.2	LIJI UI NLLAILU FNUJEUIS	<u>ک</u> ر			

1 INTRODUCTION

With 68.000 km of coastline in 20 EU Member States, almost half of the total continental population, and over 1000 ports and shipyards, EU marine environments and coastal settlements are fundamental geopolitical components as well as a strategic economic asset. As human populations and economies grow, so do the multiple competing societal needs and interests which rely on marine ecosystems.

A vast range of commercial activities is rapidly developing in the European seas: shipping and cruise industry; fisheries and aquaculture; oil and gas extraction and pipelines; sand and mineral extraction; renewable energy production; electricity and telecommunication cables; coastal and maritime tourism, as well as multiple non-commercial uses such as coastguard and military defence, and environmental uses for the protection of marine ecosystems and biodiversity.

Along with the growth of uses, so grows the demand for ocean space and marine resources. Increasing demand for a scarce good calls for new and innovative concepts for space allocation and resource exploitation. Ocean space, as a public good of great value, should be used sparingly, in a systematically planned and coordinated way, that includes and accounts for current and future uses and needs. Concentrating uses, by promoting and planning for synergies, co-use and multi-use, allows for keeping ocean space free to the maximum extent possible.

Conserving and sustainably using oceans, seas, and marine resources constitutes one of the key Sustainable Development Goals (SDG - Goal 14) of the United Nations Agenda 2030, as well as a key objective in multiple EU policies and specific strategies (Green Deal, Blue Economy Strategy, Biodiversity Strategy, Farm to Fork Strategy, Guidelines for Aquaculture, Common Fisheries Policy, etc).

Multi-Use of marine space, as further analysed in this paper, could significantly improve the use of maritime space, help reduce related antropogenic effects on the environment, and thus contribute to achieving a more sustainable use of ocean space and resources.

This thematic paper has been commissioned by the EUSAIR Facility Point, which supports the innovation community in the Adriatic Ionian region. Its overall objectives are to strengthen innovation capacity in the Region, boosting development, cross sectoral cooperation and collaboration, and working towards the creation of value chains for the benefit of the Adriatic-Ionian sea basin.

2 INNOVATION

2.1 Innovation Definitions

The concept of innovation is difficult to define in such a way as to facilitate the identification, measurement, comparison and assessment of 'innovative' initiatives. This is particularly difficult when international co-ordination is required in collecting and comparing innovation in a range of fields in different environments. It is important, therefore, that there is a common understanding of 'innovation' among the EUSAIR partners, which can be applied by each national Innovation Expert.

Perhaps the simplest definition is that "innovation is the use of new ideas, products or methods where they have not been used before"¹. However, according to the Community Innovation Survey (CIS), an innovation is defined in greater detail as a new or significantly improved product (good or service) introduced to the market, or the introduction within an enterprise of a new or significantly improved process. Innovation can also be relative to development (*new/endogenous*) or to transfer in other environments and places.

The Oslo Manual (4th Edition 2018, guidelines on how to conceptualise and measure business innovation), provides a common framework for identifying and measuring innovation in a more inclusive manner across the economy, in government, in non-profit organisations and in households. Key components of the concept of innovation include **the role of knowledge** as a basis for innovation, novelty and utility, **and value creation or preservation** as the presumed goal of innovation. The requirement for **implementation** differentiates innovation from other concepts such as invention, since an innovation must be implemented, i.e., put into use or made available for others to use.

The general definition of an innovation given by the Oslo Manual is as follows: "An innovation is a new or improved product or process (or combination thereof) that differs significantly from the unit's previous products or processes and that has been made available to potential users (product) or brought into use by the unit (process)." The generic term "unit" describes the actor responsible for innovations.

The minimum requirement for an innovation is that the product, process, marketing method or organisational method must be new (or significantly improved) to the firm or entity. This includes products, processes and methods that entities are the first to develop as well as those that have been adopted from other firms or organisations.

2.2 Typology of Innovation

The Oslo Manual for measuring innovation defines four types of innovation:

Product innovation:

A good or service that is new or significantly improved. This includes significant improvements in technical specifications, components and materials, software in the product, user friendliness or other functional characteristics.

Process innovation:

A new or significantly improved production or delivery method. This includes significant changes in techniques, equipment and/or software.

Marketing innovation:

A new marketing method involving significant changes in product design or packaging, product placement, product promotion or pricing.

Organisational innovation:

A new organisational method in business practices, workplace organisation or external relations.

Other types of innovation include:



A distinction can be made between Radical and Incremental innovation, where Radical innovations are new products, services or processes and involve significant change and innovation, and accordingly, have a greater immediate impact. Examples would include innovative fishing gear, unmanned ships, offshore ports. On the other hand, **Incremental innovations are the optimization and further development of existing processes, services or products** – which are more relevant to the current Paper.

2.3 Innovation Development Mechanism

Innovation process involves a series of sequential changes, linked causatively, constituting stages of development of innovation. In other words, an innovation process is a sequence of events necessary for introducing an innovation. It can be stimulated by two factors: (a) the strategic approach in its identification and in the way that it constitutes the design and implementation framework, and (b) the adoption of the quadruple(quintuple)-helix contribution to its development and validation (establishment and contribution of the innovation ecosystem).

2.3.1 Strategic approach

A strategic theme is a major "pillar" of every strategy that directly supports achievement of the vision and of the strategic objectives. Such a theme contains a linked set of specific objectives, and interventions, that touch on all four of the balanced scorecard perspectives:

- a. Financial (or Stewardship): views financial performance and the use of financial resources
- b. Customer/Stakeholder: views organizational performance from the perspective of the client or key stakeholders
- c. Internal Process: views the quality and efficiency of performance related to the product, services, or other key processes
- d. Organizational Capacity (or Learning & Growth): views human capital, infrastructure, technology, culture, and other capacities that are key to breakthrough performance

These linked objectives reveal how innovation contributes to the Vision and to the Strategic Objectives achievement, and forms the basis for communicating this cause-effect relation in a

consistent manner. Innovation becomes strategic when it is fully integrated into the fabric of the strategy design as well as of the planning and management process.

The scope of the current project is related to the above approach, seeking to explore the way innovation can be embedded in the EUSAIR Strategy Pillars linked to blue economy.

2.3.2 Quadruple (Quintuple)-Helix Contribution

The quadruple and quintuple innovation helix framework describes **university-industry-government-public-environment** interactions within a knowledge economy. In innovation helix framework theory, first developed by Henry Etzkowitz and Loet Leydesdorff²³ and used in innovation economics and theories of knowledge, such as the knowledge society and the knowledge economy, each sector is represented by a circle (helix), with overlapping showing interactions. The quadruple and quintuple innovation helix framework was co-developed by Elias G. Carayannis and David F.J. Campbell, with the quadruple helix being described in 2009⁴⁵ and the quintuple helix in 2010⁷.

The quadruple and quintuple helix framework can be described in terms of the models of knowledge that it extends and by five subsystems (helices) that it incorporates; in a quintuple helix-driven model, knowledge and know-how are created and transformed, and circulate as inputs and outputs in a way that affects the natural environment. Socio-ecological interactions via the quadruple and quintuple helices can be utilized to define opportunities for the knowledge society and knowledge economy, such as innovation to address sustainable development, including climate change.

The quadruple helix has been applied to European Union-sponsored projects and policies, including the EU-MACS (EUropean MArket for Climate Services) project⁶, a follow-up project of the European Research and Innovation Roadmap for Climate Services, and the European Commission's Open Innovation 2.0 (OI2) policy for a digital single market that supports open innovation⁷.

The co-design process of the EUSAIR Strategy and in many of its initiatives reflects the above participation, mainly through the establishment and operation of formal and informal networks, learning platforms and partnerships.

2.4 Blue Growth to Blue Economy

2.4.1 European Commission Policies

In 2011 the European Commission adopted a Communication on Blue Growth⁸ showing how Europe's coasts, seas and oceans have the potential to be a major source of new jobs and growth that can contribute to the Europe 2020 strategy, and improve the way we harvest the planet's resources.

In 2014 the EC outlined its approach to realising the potential of ocean energy, in May of that year issuing its Communication on 'Innovation in the Blue Economy: realizing the potential of our seas and oceans for jobs and growth'⁹. According to this document, **innovation across all sectors of the blue economy** is crucial for realising its growth and jobs potential. Innovation can bring about significant environmental benefits through "eco-innovations". Innovation can also help to develop cost-effective marine protection measures that can contribute to the implementation of the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD).

Although a number of initiatives support the development of innovation¹⁰, a number of barriers are also identified. The main obstacles to innovation in the blue growth area are: gaps in knowledge and data about the state of oceans, seabed resources, marine life and risks to habitats and ecosystems; diffuse research efforts in marine and maritime science that hinders inter-disciplinary learning and slows the progress of technological breakthroughs in key technologies and innovative business

sectors; lack of scientists, engineers and skilled workers able to apply new technologies in the marine environment.

Since then, the European Commission has issued 'a new approach for a sustainable blue economy in the EU - Transforming the EU's Blue Economy for a Sustainable Future'¹¹, marking the transition from Blue Growth to a sustainable Blue Economy:

"The current European Green Deal calls for a transformation of the economy into a modern, resource-efficient and competitive one where net emissions of greenhouse gases are phased out and the EU's natural capital is protected. The Recovery Plan for Europe aims to boost the green and digital transitions and make Europe's economy fairer, more resilient and more sustainable for future generations. The EU's Blue Economy can help achieve this dual challenge: if put on a more sustainable path, it will become a font of action and ideas creating innovation, spurring fast and lasting recovery and protecting our planet."

The communication proposes a paradigm shift from 'blue growth' to a 'sustainable blue economy', on the basis that the division between environmental protection and economy is no longer meaningful. Economic activities at sea and in coastal areas should reduce their impacts on the marine environment and value chains should transform themselves, and contribute to climate neutrality, zero pollution, circular economy and waste prevention, marine biodiversity, coastal resilience and responsible food systems.

The important **role of innovation** envisaged in the Blue Economy is clear throughout the communication. The role of marine and maritime research and innovation, and innovative technologies as such, is crucial, with the Commission intending to set up a pan-European innovation ecosystem for a sustainable Blue Economy.

2.4.2 OECD-Rethinking Innovation for a Sustainable Ocean Economy

The report on the ocean economy emphasises the growing importance of science and technologies in improving the sustainable economic development of seas and ocean. Marine ecosystems sit at the heart of many of the world's global challenges: food, medicines, new sources of clean energy, climate regulation, job creation and inclusive growth. But there is need to safeguard and improve the health of marine ecosystems to support the ever-growing use of marine resources.

Innovation in science and technology can play a key role in reconciling these two objectives. Three priority areas for action can be identified, based on a number of in-depth case studies:

- 1. approaches that produce win-win outcomes for ocean business and the ocean environment across a range of marine and maritime applications;
- 2. the creation of ocean-economy innovation networks; and
- 3. new pioneering initiatives to improve measurement of the ocean economy.



2.4.3 Smart Specialisation Strategies and Sustainable Blue Economy

According to the EC's Smart Specialisation Platform¹², "Smart Specialisation is a place-based approach characterised by the identification of strategic areas for intervention based both on the analysis of the strengths and potential of the economy and on an Entrepreneurial Discovery Process (EDP) with wide stakeholder involvement. It is outward-looking and embraces a broad view of innovation including but certainly not limited to technology-driven approaches, supported by effective monitoring mechanisms."

Smart Specialisation activities support policymakers, regional and national authorities and other stakeholders involved in research and innovation, to bridge blue growth investment platforms and regional innovation initiatives. The Blue Economy represents a niche of innovation possibilities for many regions across the EU, and in fact, one out of five EU regions are specialising in at least one domain related to the blue economy, such as green shipping and water transport including highways of the seas; blue renewable energy; marine biotechnology.

DG MARE has identified Smart Specialisation Strategies (S3) as a key tool for the implementation of the EC Communication on Sustainable Blue Economy (adopted in May 2021)¹³. In coordination with DG REGIO, DG MARE launched the **smart specialisation platform for sustainable blue economy** and a number of brokerage events were held in 2022, to promote smart specialisation interregional partnerships and blue economy value chains. The events focused on the:

- facilitation of blue economy stakeholders' networking and exchange
- promotion of the definition of stakeholders' complementarities and synergies in terms of interregional value chains/partnerships
- support of the exchange of potential partnership ideas and expression of interest
- sharing of best practices and lessons learned on S3 interregional partnerships set up and implementation.

2.5 Innovation in EUSAIR Strategy

Innovation is a key for EUSAIR and is encompassed in one of EUSAIR's Pillar 1 flagships (see below, and Annex 6.1). The theme has been explored, with the support of EUSAIR platforms and networks, and focuses on the following topics:

- 1. Key role of Smart Specialisation in the future EU programming period;
- 2. The importance of innovation ecosystems for socio-economic development;
- How to reinforce innovation capacities and innovation ecosystems in the "widening areas";
- 4. The role of the networks as system integrators;
- 5. Funding synergies and governance of the EUSAIR Macro-region;
- 6. Concrete interregional cooperation initiatives and pilot projects;
- 7. Possible strategic priorities to focus macro-regional R&I investments;
- 8. How to involve the industry and SMEs in the implementation of Macro-regional Strategies;
- 9. How to stimulate interregional innovation investments; and
- 10. The role of the EU financial instruments to enhance R&I in the EUSAIR Macro-region.

2.5.1 EUSAIR Innovators-Innovation Integrators

According to the European Innovation Scoreboard¹⁴, the EUSAIR MS countries are primarily Moderate Innovators (Slovenia, Italy, Greece), while Croatia is an Emerging Innovator. The EUSAIR Western Balkan countries are also Emerging Innovators, as can be seen in the tables below.



Figure 12: Performance of European and neighbouring countries' systems of innovation



Source: European Innovation Scoreboard 2021

2.5.2 Correlation to RIS Strategies- MRS3 AIR

Macro-Regional Smart Specialisation Strategy of Adriatic-Ionian Region (MRS3 AIR) was a pilot document that envisioned to set a framework for supporting and strengthening innovation system of the Adriatic-Ionian region and to design a project of a broader scope for the establishment of the Open Innovation System of the Adriatic-Ionian region (OIS-AIR).

The framework of MRS3 AIR was defined by resources of partner countries and regions, outlined in their Smart Specialisation Strategies (S3) and by challenges that were recognised in EU Strategy for the Adriatic and Ionian Region (EUSAIR). By focusing on several thematic priority areas, mapping potential partners within given fields and exploring opportunities for complementarities and common R&D specialisations, this document endeavoured to set R&D directions for the Adriatic-Ionian macro-region (AIR).

The strategy framework was focused to five thematic priority areas that have emerged as strategic areas based on S3 documents' analysis and on the analysis of data available to the OIS-AIR project team. These thematic priority areas were identified as most common and most present in S3 documents and were, furthermore, interrelated with EUSAIR's pillars and identified challenges. These five proposed Macro-Regional Thematic Priority Areas (MRTPA), along with associated Macro-Regional Sub-Thematic Priority Areas (MRSTPA) were:

- Agro-Bioeconomy Healthy and functional food (Blue) emphasis on seafood (including freshwater food)
- 2. Energy and Environment Integration of distributed energy resources (DER)
- Transport and Mobility Green coastal & maritime mobility
- 4. Tourism and Culture Smart and creative upgrade of cultural tourism
- 5. Health and Medicine Sustainable new healthcare models.

In order to support reaching the triple objectives of smart, inclusive and sustainable growth in the Adriatic-Ionian region, the above-mentioned strategy aimed to explore the possibility of applying a mission-oriented approach to the identified MRSTPAs. Missions might come in a different shapes and sizes, and in some cases represent simply a trigger for action, still they could provide a massive opportunity to increase the impact of European research and innovation activities, to capture the public imagination and to make a real push in addressing complex challenges. Proposed MRTPAs for MRS3 AIR were based on several factors and it is the frequency of those factors as a R&D resource as well as the ability of those factors to tackle regional challenges of EUSAIR that were considered.

These identified "interrelationships" between S3 and EUSAIR, MRTPAs are shown in the Sankey diagram below.





2.5.3 Innovation and EUSAIR Pillar I Flagships 2021-2027

The EUSAIR Strategy encompasses four thematic areas/pillars representing key challenges as well as key opportunities in the region. For each pillar, specific topics and actions have been identified, taking into account the needs, urgency of the issue and the added value of joint actions taken in order to solve the existing challenges or build upon the future opportunities.

Thus, Pillar I Flagships comprise:

- Fostering quadruple helix ties in the fields of marine technologies and blue bio-technologies for advancing innovation, business development and business adaptation in blue bioeconomy.
- Promoting Sustainability, Diversification and Competitiveness in the fisheries and aquaculture sectors through education, research & development, administrative, technological and marketing actions, including the promotion of initiatives on marketing standards and healthy nutritional habits.
- Bolstering capacity building and efficient coordination of planning and local development activities for improving marine and maritime governance and Blue Growth services

Innovation stands for a cross-cutting issue in EUSAIR. EUSAIR Action Plan identifies the relevance of Pillar I with regard to cross-cutting issues as follows.

Research, innovation and SMEs: both topics have a strong focus on research and innovation. Actions under these topics may therefore contribute to the development of SMEs in these sectors by transferring the latest R&D results to seafood processing and new products. Moreover, the first pillar has a strong focus on the mobility of researchers and the establishment of joint R&I platforms. Capacity building, including communication: actions under the second topic require strengthening capacity in relation to management, surveillance, monitoring, and skills. Actions under the third topic will strengthen the administrative and institutional capacities of the public sector and contribute to EU integration. Sharing of best practices and cooperation between countries will be fostered, with a focus on planning the coordinated actions necessary for better maritime and marine governance and services. Actions under Pillar 1 have therefore the potential to contribute to the strategic decision-making related to Blue Growth. On the other hand, communication is central for involving stakeholders and initiating awareness-raising processes.

2.6 Innovation in Fisheries & Aquaculture

Fisheries and aquaculture are sectors with special weight in EUSAIR Pillar 1. As seafood consumption grows, sustainable production is of crucial importance for the transition to a sustainable Blue Economy, and is a primary objective for related EU policies. Innovation in these fields plays a key role in enhancing sustainability, and reducing the environmental impact of both activities.

2.6.1 Fisheries

Innovation in fisheries is mainly focused on fishing gear and equipment. With sustainability being a primary policy goal, innovation is yielding multiple solutions in terms of stock preservation, protection of marine species, and energy consumption.

Technological innovation is prominent in the field. It primarily involves gear selectivity to target specific species, avoid unwanted catches and eliminate discards, in compliance with limitations imposed. Other technologies, are also been applied, such as in the FIS032 'Real-time reporting app to avoid unwanted catches' project¹⁵ where live data and information is shared between fishers to notify of areas that should be avoided due to the presence of certain species. Technological innovation is also important in the development of methods and equipment to prevent vessel strikes and avert marine animals form the fishing gear (eg cetacean monitoring apps, acoustic devices, escape devices on nets), so as to both protect endangered species and avoid gear damages which bear a significant gear replacement cost.

Innovation featuring existing technologies from different fields and adaptation to fisheries mainly involves engine technologies in order to reduce energy consumption and cost, and related CO2 emissions. Solar power and energy storage technologies are being tried in the fisheries sector in the attempt to achieve better energy efficiency levels and minimize the environmental impact of the fleets.

Technological innovation has also played a crucial role in improving monitoring, control and surveillance. Both collaborative (VMS, AIS) and non-collaborative tools (optical or radar satellites), as well as data processing technologies (big data, block chain, smart weighing at sea, Radio-Frequency Identification (RFID), smartphones for monitoring, artificial intelligence, drones, and on-board cameras) are significantly assisting the authorities in proper stock management, Marine Protected Areas (MPA) implementation and fighting Illegal, Unreported and Unregulated fishing. Innovative monitoring technologies used at the different policy stages, enhance the design, implementation and evaluation of fisheries policy instruments¹⁶.



Use of monitoring technologies at various policy stages, Source: Girard & Du Payrat (2017)

Following on from the typology of innovation mentioned above, other types of innovation also exist to a lower degree:

- Process innovations, referring to the development of new low impact fishing techniques promoting environmental sustainability
- Network innovations, associated to local fishing communities,
- Marketing innovations in promotion of the products of local fisheries
- Management innovations in the case of MPAs, involving relevant stakeholders (national and local authorities, fishers etc)

2.6.2 Aquaculture

The increasing demand for fish over the past decades as a result of the human population increase¹⁷, combined with the reduction of available wild fish catch worldwide, has resulted in an increasing demand for, and production of aquaculture fish.

Moving towards a more intensified aquaculture, that at the same time needs to be both green and profitable, innovation across different phases of production proves to be of significant importance in building a more resilient and sustainable sector.

Innovation in the aquaculture sector is highly technological, due to the nature of the businesses, and includes different technologies across different stages of the production process.

The importance of animal health and hygiene in the production process constantly drives innovation in the field, in order to improve product quality and reduce costs, including stock losses from disease. Ranging from veterinary medicines, such as oral vaccines, to feeds and nutrients, such as insect-meal based fishfeeds¹⁸, and even genetic engineering, bio-technology is a prominent area for innovation in aquaculture.

Water circulation and waste management are also aspects of great interest for innovation, due to their importance in production, from both the environmental and financial perspective. Water circulation systems contribute to a better delivery of nutrients and more efficient waste management, which in turn is crucial for good animal hygiene and health, as well as for minimizing the environmental impact of aquaculture¹⁹. Different types of sensors are being used to provide valuable data (water temperature, salinity, pH) in order to assist in both better environmental management, as well as better living conditions and better growth rates for the fish. Al technologies have recently started being tested for quality control purposes such as prediction of algae blooms, monitoring of biomass size in pens, etc²⁰.

Innovations that reduce energy consumption in the production process or combine renewable energy production in the aquaculture facility (solar, wind, wave) are currently of the highest interest, and are also being researched in the framework of multi-level use of marine space, in off-shore platforms that combine energy production with aquaculture installations²¹.

Apart from technological, other areas of innovation in the aquaculture sector include product and process innovation, related to cultivation of new marine species, and new cultivation methods for new and old ones. Also of interest is marketing innovation for the end product, as well as food technology innovation for aquaculture product processing businesses.

3 MULTILEVEL USE OF MARITIME SPACE

3.1 Rational

Marine environments and coastal settlements are fundamental components of the European geopolitical context. The EU has 68.000 km of coastline, spanning more than 20 EU Member States and approximately half of the total continental population. With over 1000 ports and shipyards, the maritime sector is a strategic economic asset. In this context, economic growth and related social wellbeing have environmental costs, while being dependent on the health of the coastal ecosystem²².

As human populations and economies grow, so do the multiple competing societal needs and interests which rely on marine ecosystems. The numerous social, economic, environmental, and cultural values that must be taken into account in planning, inevitably lead to disputes about prioritizing and sharing of – finite and increasingly scarce - marine spaces and resources. This is further complicated by the multidimensional nature of the marine environment, including the sea surface, the air above it, the water column, the seabed, and the subsoil beneath it. Land-sea interactions comprise a range of highly complex interdependencies of fragile ecosystems, valuable natural resources, economic interests, social aspects, and identities at various geographical levels. Handling these interdependencies – also in the interest of future generations – requires policy integration and sound governance²³.

Conserving and sustainably using oceans, seas, and marine resources constitutes one of the key Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) of the United Nations Agenda 2030. There are three basic concepts underpinning the sustainable development of seas and oceans: economic development, environmental responsibility and social progress.

In the EU marine context, economic development is attributed to the concept of blue growth, defined as 'smart, sustainable and inclusive economic and employment growth from the oceans, seas and coasts'. The Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD), which aims to achieve a Good Environmental Status of the EU's seas and oceans²⁴, provides the element of environmental responsibility. The social sustainability of maritime spatial development is only partially and indirectly addressed through the EU Marine Spatial Planning (MSP) Directive²⁵, which encourages the participation of various stakeholders in the MSP process and emphasizes the importance of co-existence.²⁶

Governance of different sectors that make use of maritime space (transport, fisheries, tourism, energy, marine environmental protection, marine research, surveillance and policing) has developed on separate tracks.²⁷ Therefore, various issues that arise are, in general, addressed in a monosectoral manner, leading to inefficiencies, incoherencies and conflicts of use, and ultimately reducing potential for Blue Growth and innovation. MSP presents as a tool that and be used to resolve conflicts between maritime uses by improving decision-making, and thus support a more sustainable use of maritime space.²⁸

The many **potential benefits** from the adoption of marine spatial planning include²⁹:

- Application of an ecosystems approach to the management of human activities through safeguarding important marine ecological processes and the overall resilience of the marine system
- Provision of a strategic, integrated and forward-looking framework for all uses of the sea which takes into account environmental as well as cultural, social and economic objectives
- Identification, conservation or restoration of important components of coastal and marine ecosystems
- Allocation of space in a rational manner which minimises conflicts of interest and maximises synergies across sectors
- Management of cumulative impacts over space and time
- Provision of greater certainty for marine users.

MULTI USE as a tool for Maritime Spatial Planning

Multi Use of marine space emerged as an option for MSP, that allows for more efficient use of maritime space and resources. A common definition of MU has yet to be agreed upon, however, the definition proposed by *Zaucha et al.(2016)³⁰* in the MUSES project has been generally accepted and widely used.

Definition of multi-use, as developed in the MUSES project

In the realm of marine resource utilisation Multi-Use should be understood as **the joint use of resources in close geographic proximity**. This can involve either a single user or multiple users performing multiple uses. It is an umbrella term that covers a multitude of use combinations and represents a radical change from the concept of exclusive resource rights to the inclusive sharing of resources by one or more users.

A **user** is understood as the individual, group or entity that intentionally benefits from a given resource. If a business creates a separate legal entity to exploit an additional resource, this entity is then considered another user.

A **use** is understood as a distinct and intentional activity through which a direct (e.g. profit) or indirect (e.g. nature conservation) benefit is drawn by one or more users. For the purpose of this definition, a clear distinction is made between different types of uses.

A **resource** is understood as a good or service that represents a value to one or more users. Such a resource can be biotic (e.g. fish stocks) or abiotic (e.g. ocean space) and can be exploited through either direct (e.g. fishing) or indirect (e.g. nature conservation) uses.

Kyvelou and lerapetritis (2019)³¹ propose a more elaborate definition of MU, as:

a complex, multidimensional and context-specific process of marine management between multiple users, driven by technological, financial, socio-economic, cultural, environmental and governance related factors — that should be fed by both planning, engineering, governance and management disciplines — so as to achieve an integrated, adaptive, transparent, coordinated, innovative and coherent spatial planning process with limited exclusive rights, in the sea and the oceans.

Although more complex, this definition summarizes the essence of the relevant literature of MU as to both defining terms and incorporating principles for MU development.

Connectivity of users and uses, as analysed by *Schupp et al* (2019)³²., results in a **typology for MU** based on four dimensions:

The **Spatial** Dimension refers to the three-dimensional sea space. The **Temporal** Dimension refers to the timeframe in which the uses in question take place. The **Provisioning** Dimension encompasses all activities and processes servicing and supporting the main function of a use. A connection of uses in this dimension usually takes the form of sharing of those services or their associated costs in order to reduce the financial burden of operating in a marine environment. The **Functional** Dimension refers to the main function of a use. A connection of uses in this dimension implies a direct linkage of one use function to the other. This can take the form of shared infrastructure, e.g., multi-purpose platforms designed to accommodate different uses and users. Four types of MU are derived from these dimensions: multi-purpose/multi-functional, symbiotic, co-existence/co-location, and subsequent use/repurposing (see table below).

Туре	Dimensions				Description		
	Spatial	Temporal	Provisioning	Functional			
Type 1: Multi- purpose/multi- functional	\checkmark	V	1	V	Takes place in the same area, at the same time, with shared services and core infrastructure		
Type 2: Symbiotic use	v	V	~		Takes place in the same area, at the same time, and peripheral infrastructure or services on sea or land are shared		
Type 3: Co-existence/co- location	\checkmark	\checkmark			Takes place in the same place and at the same time		
Type 4: Subsequent use/repurposing	\checkmark				Takes place in the same ocean space but subsequently		
Source: Schupp e	Source: Schupp et al. (2019)						

Depellegrin et al.(2019)³³, propose a typology based on combination of uses. They have identified ten MU combinations in Euro-Mediterranean countries, either as existing or with future development potential, according to the definition of MU Potentialities developed in the MUSES project.³⁴

Combinations are grouped in three main sectors: Tourism-driven, Renewable Energy-driven, and Oil&Gasdriven. All combinations are presented in the following table: **MU Potentialities**: The degree of opportunity of a sea area to develop or strengthen MU. This includes (1) existing MU - sea areas where present or past MU combinations in form pilot sites take place and (2) potential MU - sea areas where MU combinations were developed on a conceptual or design level.

	MU	ES	FR	IT	SL	HR	GR	MT	CY
Tourism driven	Fishery & Tourism & Env. Protection		٠	•	•	•	٠	٠	•
	Aquaculture & Tourism			•	•		•	•	
	UCH & Tourism & Env. Protection			•			•		•
Renewable-Energy driven	FOW & Aquaculture		•						
	FOW & Env. Protection								
	Wave & Aquaculture							•	
	RE & Aquaculture*								•
	OW & Desalination**						• •		
O & G driven	O&G & OW			•					
	O&G & Tourism & Aquaculture								

Existing (green) and potential (yellow) MU combinations identified in the eight EU countries of the Mediterranean Sea basin.

UCH – Underwater Cultural Heritage FOW – Floating Offshore Wind RE – Renewable Energy (Wind/Wave/Solar) OW – OffshoreWind O&G – Oil and Gas infrastructure

Source: Depellegrin et al.(2019)

The tourism-driven MU consists of tourism activities combined with other soft-uses of the sea space such as fishery, environmental protection, aquaculture, and Underwater Cultural Heritage (UCH).

The renewable energy-driven MU refers to the combination of offshore renewable energy production (wind, wave and/or solar) with uses such as aquaculture or environmental protection. Oil and Gas (O&G)-driven MU refers to the re-purposing of structures built for the hydrocarbon industry (near-shore or offshore) that become obsolete and require decommissioning.

Overall, the diversity of Multi Use types indicates that MU is a wide concept with multiple possibilities when applied in Maritime Spatial Planning. As relevant literature points out, there is no one single management approach that can accommodate all possible projects, but rather a need for flexibility and transparency in the application of the framework of MSP for each individual MU proposed, in an open and adaptive manner that will not add to bureaucracy and further complicate procedures, focused on minimizing conflicts and achieving high benefits for society. ^{35 36}

3.2 Involved stakeholders

There are many stakeholders involved in the multilevel use of maritime space, as there are in addressing the issue of climate change. A brief list of these actors would include the following, along the lines of the quadruple/quintuple helix mentioned elsewhere in this paper:

- **Government authorities**: public authorities at regional and local government levels, but also at national level as regards the development and implementation of trans-national and international initiatives dealing with marine-related activity management.
- Academic institutes and research bodies contributing to the body of theoretical knowledge and policy development in the littoral countries.
- **Private enterprises**, including industry but also SMEs (eg large- and small scale fisheries, individual fishers, as well as private sector enterprises active in non-directly related sectors, such as tourism).
- **NGOs and grass-roots organisations** representing the littoral populations, actively protecting marine space, and so on.
- Other regional initiatives/international projects and transnational working groups that contribute to the adaptation of policies to specific circumstances, leading to improved coordination of action across all governance levels (eg the Interreg ADRION Programme³⁷; the Interreg AdriAdapt platform³⁸; the Interreg MED Programme³⁹; the Union for the Mediterranean⁴⁰; Plan Bleu, one of the Regional Activity Centres of the Mediterranean Action Plan (MAP) of United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)⁴¹; the Center for Mediterranean Integration (CMI)⁴², and many more).

3.3 Key challenges and identified needs

There is a need to build strong relationships between scientists studying the use of maritime space and Europe's aquaculture and marine-related industries, which will lead to actionable science and innovation(s) which can be used by policymakers and the marine-related industrial sectors. An overview of the main challenges identified in the literature, includes the following:

- There is a need to strengthen/support **collaborative and cooperative governance**, focused on innovation. Collaboration should be facilitated across all relevant governance levels,

within and beyond the borders of the governable territory - in cooperation with non-government stakeholders.

- Closely linked to the above point, is the fact that when human activities are planned independently, even when their individual impacts on the environment are assessed, their interactions with each other and their **cumulative effects on the environment** may not be examined^{43 44}. The results of this management approach can be inadequate.
- Particularly at local level, multiple jurisdictions of regional, national, EU and other legislation and entities meet and overlap. At the same time, as each sector functions on its own legal framework, the lack of dialogue between public institutions creates further bureaucracy and difficulties in identifying the administrative offices responsible, especially for issuing permits⁴⁵. EU level policy influence is often limited at local level due to the hierarchical distance between the EU and local governments. Due to the subsidiarity principle and national state decision-making, in many cases EU interventions are limited to the dissemination of best practices and action guidance.
- There are a great number of stakeholders' needs to be reconciled, when planning multilevel use of marine space. Land-sea interactions cannot be addressed by one policy or one stakeholder and given the complexity of the task it is important to involve all relevant marine and coastal stakeholders directly. Stakeholders seem to be, in principle, agreeable to co-locating activities^{46 47 48}, however, each stakeholder comes with their own bias due to individual knowledge, interests, goals, resources (e.g., financial, political, legal, informational, education), and the capacities to mobilise these resources. Marine and coastal territory governance requires the engagement of all relevant stakeholders and their resources on all levels of governance and beyond on all levels of socioeconomic structures. For this, appropriate and adaptive capacity should be embedded⁴⁹.
- Planning for the multilevel use of marine space, and the realization of such plans and strategies is of increasing importance and has gained widespread acceptance in many regions globally. However, it remains a continuously developing area of research, which still faces many conceptual and practical challenges, for example, shortcomings in political and institutional frameworks; stakeholder engagement; encompassing human and social dimensions; balancing economic development and marine ecosystem conservation, and adapting to global environmental change.

Two crucial issues that also need to be taken into account when planning for MU are the **technical aspects and the management scheme** of the various possible developments. Immature technologies for energy conversion, local storage and mooring pose a great challenge for the design of offshore Renewable Energy MU sites⁵⁰. Effective operational **management** of MU sites is also subject to multiple challenges, ranging from coordinating transport, sharing equipment and organizing an efficient maintenance plan, to defining clear duties and rights in the shared site.⁵¹ Both these issues need to be addressed and carefully designed in order to avoid high costs that would render the projects unviable.

Offshore installations face a number of logistic difficulties due to restricted accessibility, with consequently raised costs compared to similar near-shore or onshore sites. Research shows that operations, including daily and periodic tasks such as harvesting, and maintenance, are both cost-intensive and time consuming, and calculations put the related costs at 5-10 times higher than similar on/near-shore operations⁵². Uncertainty regarding

accidents on such sites poses an additional economic obstacle as to **insurance costs**⁵³. Investments in MU might therefore be discouraged and financial instruments should be considered to support and promote such activities.

3.4 SWOT Analysis

The Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats related to the multilevel use of maritime space are presented below.

Strengths:

- Over the past years, there has been an **increasing alignment of multiple policy priorities** between regional, national and local level authorities, including for instance the growth or marine-related sectors, conservation of the marine ecosystem and biodiversity, consideration of issues such as equity and inclusivity.
- High-level policy intent and investment increasingly support a shared understanding of the need for co-development and evidence-based planning in the multilevel use of marine space.
- The **interdisciplinary focus** of the approach to multilevel use of marine space, and its increasing acceptance as a framework for conservation and sustainable development are key strengths, generating cross-fertilisation of innovative ideas and initiatives.

Weaknesses⁵⁴:

- Insufficient understanding about coastal processes and lack of common internationally adopted vision.
- Insufficient and inadequate inclusion of stakeholders.
- Inappropriate, short-sighted, uncoordinated **sectoral legislation** creating long term unsustainability and increasing the difficulties caused by the operational complexity of the approach.
- **Bureaucracy** and lack of administrative coordination blocking local, tailored and creative solutions.
- Lack of resources for this resource-intensive approach and political support for local initiatives and actions.

Opportunities:

- The use of digital technology and spatial data to summarize patterns of human use and environmental processes in the land-sea space. By overlaying these data, it is possible to identify potential conflicts within and between marine uses and ecological values. A digital collection of spatial data (marine atlas) would inform decision-making for marine space use and environmental sustainability. Sophisticated digital tools and online platforms enable users to work collaboratively and support unified management, allowing for better planning.
- Given the need for transnational collaboration and wide stakeholder involvement in the development of multilevel planning, established mechanisms for cooperation provide a

sound basis for extension into the preparation and implementation of maritime spatial plans. Sustainable and efficient multi-use of maritime space and natural resources has already been explored in Europe, on the project level, via numerous EU-supported projects and initiatives.

Threats:

- The inability to achieve **institutional coordination** is a major challenge to the coordinated multilevel use of maritime space.
- Similarly, the difficulties in achieving **operational synergies** between institutions and authorities at regional level further prevent an integrated approach to multilevel use of maritime space, where the **difficulty of integrating disciplines** in any case hinders development.
- Specific measures for cooperation on the multilevel use of marine space do not exist, since there are differences between marine and coastal areas in the various geographical regions. This means that relevant authorities are often left to develop the most appropriate mechanisms of cooperation alone. This is likely to mean that one authority circulates a draft version(s) to neighbouring authorities, with the feedback being incorporated into the final transnational set of measures. There is the danger that not all stakeholders will be engaged in this process, and that the measures will fall short of the complex interdisciplinary plan which would ideally be proposed.
- The wide and varied nature of the barriers which must be addressed (eg inappropriate regulations, operational, environmental, health and safety, technology, societal and legal difficulties and differences) hinder the transition of multilevel usage **from a concept to real life recognition** and practical implementation.

4 **RECOMMENDATIONS**

4.1 Recommendations

1. Enhancing the collection and sharing of data and knowledge

In all countries of the Region, there is ongoing collection of a wide range of data, resulting in national databases, for multiple activities relevant to the MU concept, forming the national data bases: data on fisheries, aquaculture, meteorologic, oceanic and other environmental data, tourism-related data, data about energy facilities in coastal areas and electrical interconnections, marine traffic etc. Additional data are collected by the private sector, academia and research institutes, as well as NGO's and international organisations.

The information gathered is currently being used – or potentially could be used – in analysing:

- the parameters needed for the operations and further development of aquaculture (water temperature, pH, currents, etc.), and their relations with the physiology and pathology of farmed organisms;
- the necessary parameters for the development of (offshore) Renewable Energy Sources (met-ocean conditions: wind velocity and direction, wave height, tidal range, etc);
- the parameters needed to determine the environmental status and impose area or season restrictions on fishing, assign MPA status, etc

Various spatial data related to maritime uses are also available through different sources. Data related to shipping routes (commercial, recreational, military, etc), data on the location of energy uses (RES sites, cables, substations), data related to fisheries (fishing sites for small-scale fisheries, open-sea fishing sites, various control data collected by authorities), to aquaculture sites – coastal & offshore – (ocean data collected on site), data on tourism, environmental data (MPAs, ocean data, data on marine species), etc.

All these data are being collected and used by different stakeholders: government authorities (international, national, regional and local), academia and research institutes, private sector, various NGOs, etc. Combining the data already available, and further enhancing the collection and processing, could significantly benefit the policy-making process regarding MSP, and especially in the decision-making process regarding MU (selection of MU type, location, etc).

The **consolidation** of these data in a uniform type that would allow for exchange between stakeholders, and even the creation of a single platform that would gather all MSP and MU essential data, which would be openly available, could significantly assist the advance of research on the MU topic, as well as potential investments. It could also encourage **data-related innovation** on the subject, which could, in turn, greatly benefit future MU projects.

Data-sharing platforms for MU could also be a first step in a process of greater exchange of knowledge on the subject, as technologies and policies mature and more MU projects develop. Knowledge-sharing on an international level, could prove to be catalytic in accelerating technological progress in the field, and moving faster towards a more sustainable and efficient use of marine space.

To further enhance the collection and sharing of data, at national and international level, innovative approaches to the following are required:

- Agreements on the type of data which need to be gathered, which should be regularly reviewed, updated and ratified: the type, format and size of data and databases, comparability of the data collected, what data and how are they used in different analyses on MU planning projects, etc
- Sharing and exchange of data gathered by various stakeholders should be pro-actively facilitated (eg through national policy and inter-national agreements): academic and research institutions, private sector enterprises, and other organisations, should be actively encouraged and even rewarded to share the data they collect.
- The development and dissemination of relevant **IT systems and tools** able to process Big Data should be a priority for national authorities.

Drafting national frameworks and international agreements for data collection and sharing, is a necessary step towards the development of an integrated data and knowledge sharing platform for MU.

2. Governance and Stakeholder Participation

2.1 Creating a policy framework

When addressing the issue of Multi Use governance, one critical issue that all literature points to is the need of a framework to govern MU process, from planning and design, to full operation.

MU includes a number of different activities, governed by different legislations that should all feed into the overall framework, as well as the MSP and other policy frameworks of each country, in order to create a comprehensive framework to act as a guide to MU development.

It is important for this framework:

-to be clear as to the licensing/permit process and provide a pathway for potential investments.

-to eliminate bureaucracy and complexity, by appointing responsibility for the different steps of the process to the relevant authorities, while at the same time eliminating unnecessary overlaps between authorities.

-to simplify the process of each individual use licensing

- to introduce site specific and type specific environmental studies as for the potential cumulative effect of different uses

-to establish a mechanism for financial support for MU developments

The MU framework needs to be flexible enough so as to accommodate the multitude of potential developments, but at the same time firm regarding the regulation of environmental and societal outcomes of MU activities.

2.2 Stakeholder Involvement

MU is a very versatile tool that can offer solutions in MSP, especially in locations where marine space is either scarce, or crowded by many different uses.

The range of options that MU offers, is directly related to the versatility of different potential sites for MU developments. Therefore, all steps in the development process, as well as in the operational phase, have to be site-specific. Furthermore, the specificity of each site combined with the particularities of stakeholders in each case, create a very unique framework for every single project.

It is therefore highly recommended and supported by all relevant literature, that stakeholders should be involved in every step of the process in order to contribute their specific knowledge and achieve the best solutions in each case.

Stakeholder participation is highly advised from the very first phases of MU development, starting with **policy-making**. The contribution of sectorial knowledge of different stakeholders (policy-officers, local government, research institutes & academia, fishers & aquaculture business, energy sector, tourism, maritime transport etc) can yield important results in identifying barriers in the licensing process and offer experience-based and sector-specific suggestions that can greatly improve the process in terms of required effort and time.

In the **planning** phase of single MU developments, early and active involvement of a set of identified stakeholders with varied roles, objectives and resources, can assist site selection and type selection, by offering their views and knowledge of the site under consideration, its situation and conditions: oceanic parameters, energy production capacity and applicable technologies, possible conflicts with other uses, potential outcomes of different uses, financial viability of different combinations, etc.

In project **design**, even though in the initial technical scoping phase it is advisable to only involve relevant experts, in later stages stakeholder engagement in decision-making regarding specific design aspects can offer creative solutions to improve the design and solve difficulties, to avoid implementing sub-optimal solutions.

In the **operational** phase of the MU site, it is also important to involve stakeholders in drafting a comanagement scheme. This participative approach in MU management is necessary as the financial viability of a project combining different uses heavily relies on the sharing of costs such as transportation and maintenance. Additionally, a co-management scheme is imperative to ensure the compatibility between uses of the different operations taking place in each section/use of the site, and avoid disturbances caused by one use to others. For example, it makes sense to carefully plan site maintenance at a time convenient to all users involved and share costs of specialised vessels and equipment.

What is crucial in stakeholder participation is to be realised in a manner that will retain participant involvement. Relevant literature shows that traditional methods of participation (eg questionnaires distributed at a neutral time) seem to have poorer results compared to a more active involvement strategy. It is thus recommended that the creation of a **stakeholder consultation mechanism** is considered. This mechanism has to be broad enough to include all possible stakeholders, as well as flexible and modular to reflect each step in the development process and separately involve relevant stakeholders to each proper stage.

Developing **innovative solutions for participation** might provide an answer to the challenging case of MU stakeholder involvement which needs to be continuous throughout the whole process, and, thus, should be an **objective for policy-making**. Innovative digital tools should be sought in the design of the mechanism, in order to make it efficient, resource-wise and as to the outcomes. The basic parameters of such a mechanism would be: to correctly identify and categorize all relevant stakeholders, to allow for remote and asynchronous participation, to avoid time-consuming proceedings, to only involve people relevant and necessary to each case, to allow for exchange between participants and collaboration, rather than just collecting different opinions, etc.

3. Innovation Supporting Initiatives

In order to foster innovation in the field of MU, different initiatives could be undertaken:

- Initiatives related to data innovation, for the collection and sharing of data, and for the use of data in the various decision-making phases of the projects (planning, design, operations etc), and also for the dissemination of knowledge gathered throughout a MU project development.
- Initiatives for process innovation, regarding the establishment of a stakeholder consultation mechanism, as well as for the policy design of processes of the MU life-cycle: preliminary site and type selection, licensing, participatory design, and coordinated operations of different uses
- Initiatives for management innovation in the different phases of a single MU project, especially for establishing a co-management scheme for operations and maintenance, between separate uses in a single site.
- Initiatives to support technological innovation in MU, not only in the different technologies in the fields involved, but also combined cross-sectoral collaborations for joint technological innovations specifically for MU developments.

4.2 Innovation Secretariat

The setting up an international 'Innovation Secretariat' in the EUSAIR Region is proposed, in order to pro-actively support the planning and implementation of transborder cooperation, representing all the participating countries and coordinating a joint, innovative approach to monitoring and recording climate change.

- It will have an important role in coordinating
 - the alignment of legislation/regulations impacting transborder cooperation in all relevant fields;
 - the collection and sharing of data;
 - the exchange of best practices and experiences within the fisheries and aquaculture industries;
 - the effective operation of international experts' working groups
- It will facilitate the communication between all stakeholders, who will need to work together
 in addressing the impacts of climate change, assisting in the collection and dissemination of
 accurate and reliable information in an effective way, facilitating the creation of a common
 understanding of the problems and proposed solutions.

- It may be authorized to **represent** the Region as it participates in international platforms, fora, programmes, initiatives, etc., addressing relevant issues on an international level.
- Other activities it may undertake include workshops and training seminars, hosting events bringing together experts in a particular field, publishing findings/recommendations on an ad hoc or regular basis, linking academia, public bodies, private institutions, NGOs, grassroots organisations, through facilitating stakeholder meetings.

The first steps to be undertaken in the establishment of an Innovation Secretariat are:

- 1) To establish a common vision for its role and reach agreement on its creation and the scope of its activities/responsibilities
- To discuss and agree upon its structure, settle management arrangements (eg proposing a rotation between the participating countries) and operational issues, as well as joint sources of funding
- To agree upon an initial strategy (a 24-month and 48-month plan of action, including a timetable of activities, deliverables, monitoring and evaluation procedures and available budget)
- 4) Accompany the establishment of the Innovation Secretariat with a region-wide communication campaign signaling the commitment of the participating countries to the aims of the Secretariat and the need to engage with all stakeholders.

4.3 Sources of funding

Sources of financing for the adoption of processes and methods (innovation transfer), as well as technological tools, can be found at international level as well as national level for initiatives undertaken (fully or in part) by each individual littoral country.

A list of potential sources of finance follows below:

International level				
EU financial instruments	Programmes such as			
	 European Maritime, Fisheries, and Aquaculture Fund EMFAF (ESIF),now delegated to the European Climate, Infrastructure and Environment Executive Agency CINEA 			
	• Interreg (for cooperation across borders),			
	 Horizon Europe (for research and innovation), 			
	 InvestEU (for investment, innovation and job creation), 			
	COSME (for SME competitiveness),			
	LIFE programme,			

	EaSI (for employment & social innovation)etc.			
European Investment Bank EIB				
National level				
Government grants	Incl. via the Structural Funds			
Private funds	 Academic grants, bursaries, research scholarships, etc Funding by private enterprises (eg prizes, research funds, financing via CSR initiatives, etc) Business Angels, Venture Capital 			
Banking system, financial institutions	Debt, Equity, Business Angels, Venture Capital			
Fund raising, donations, crowdfunding				

5 CONCLUSIONS – NEXT STEPS

In conclusion, Multi Use can prove to be a valuable tool in the use of Maritime Spatial Planning, that can provide solutions to address a more sustainable use of ocean resources. Important research has already been done and continues, and technological advances could soon provide us with solutions for even more uses than those applicable today. However, there is a lack for a sufficient framework that would facilitate and encourage MU developments and investments, and should thus be rendered as a priority.

Stakeholder participation is a necessary condition for a successful MU development, and should thus be a major factor in the design of policy. An initial stakeholder identification could be a first step in establishing a stakeholder consultation mechanism, that could either be on the national level, or extend to a trans-national, aiming to further strengthen the exchange of knowledge, experience and expertise.

Furthermore, enhancing the collection and sharing of data between different actors at national and international level, could further advance relevant research and innovation and accelerate the evolution of MU technologies and applications. An initial agreement on the relevant and necessary data and data-sharing process would be the primary step in establishing a data and knowledge sharing framework.

6 ANNEX

6.1 EUSAIR STRATEGY

The EU Strategy for the Adriatic and Ionian Region is one of the four EU macro-regional strategies, besides the EU Strategy for the Baltic Sea Region (2009), the EU Strategy for the Danube Region (2011) and the EU Strategy for the Alpine Region (2016).

The EUSAIR covers ten countries: four EU Member States (Croatia, Greece, Italy, Slovenia) and six non-EU countries (Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro, North Macedonia, San Marino, Serbia).

The general objective of the EUSAIR is to promote economic and social prosperity and growth in the region by improving its attractiveness, competitiveness and connectivity. With four EU members and four non EU countries the strategy will contribute to the further integration of the Western Balkans.

The participating countries of the EUSAIR agreed on areas of mutual interest with high relevance for the Adriatic-Ionian countries, being it common challenges or opportunities. The countries aim to create synergies and foster coordination among all territories in the Adriatic-Ionian Region in **four thematic areas/ pillars** representing key challenges as well as key opportunities in the region. For each pillar, specific topics and actions have been identified, taking into account the needs, urgency of the issue and the added value of joint actions taken in order to solve the existing challenges or build upon the future opportunities.



6.1.1 Pillars

PILLAR 1: BLUE GROWTH

The specific objectives for this pillar are:

- To promote research, innovation and business opportunities in blue economy sectors, by facilitating the brain circulation between research and business communities and increasing their networking and clustering capacity.
- To adapt to sustainable seafood production and consumption, by developing common standards and approaches for strengthening these two sectors and providing a level playing field in the macro-region.
- To improve sea basin governance, by enhancing administrative and institutional capacities in the area of maritime governance and services.

To achieve the abovementioned objectives, Pillar 1 will focus on three topics:

Topic 1 – Blue technologies

Topic 2 – Fisheries and aquaculture

Topic 3 – Maritime and marine governance and services

PILLAR 2: CONNECTING THE REGION

The specific objectives for this pillar are:

- To strengthen maritime safety and security and develop a competitive regional intermodal port system.
- To develop reliable transport networks and intermodal connections with the hinterland, both for freight and passengers.
- To achieve a well-interconnected and well-functioning internal energy market supporting the three energy policy objectives of the EU – competitiveness, security of supply and sustainability.

To achieve the abovementioned objectives, Pillar 2 will focus on three topics:

Topic 1 – Maritime transport

Topic 2 – Intermodal connections to the hinterland

Topic 3 – Energy networks

PILLAR 3: ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY

The specific objectives for this pillar are:

- To ensure a good environmental and ecological status of the marine and coastal environment by 2020 in line with the relevant EU acquis and the ecosystem approach of the Barcelona Convention.
- To contribute to the goal of the EU Biodiversity Strategy to halt the loss of biodiversity and the degradation of ecosystem services in the EU by 2020, and restore them in so far as feasible, by addressing threats to marine and terrestrial biodiversity.
- To improve waste management by reducing waste flows to the sea and, to reduce nutrient flows and other pollutants to the rivers and the sea.

Two topics are identified as pivotal in relation to environmental quality in the Adriatic-Ionian Region:

Topic 1 – The marine environment

Topic 2 – Transnational terrestrial habitats and biodiversity

PILLAR 4: SUSTAINABLE TOURISM

The specific objectives for this pillar are

- Diversification of the macro-region's tourism products and services along with tackling seasonality of inland, coastal and maritime tourism demand.
- Improving the quality and innovation of tourism offer and enhancing the sustainable and responsible tourism capacities of the tourism actors across the macro-region.

To achieve the abovementioned objectives, Pillar 4 will focus on two topics:

Topic 1 – Diversified tourism offer (products and services)

Topic 2 – Sustainable and responsible tourism management (innovation and quality)

6.2 List of related projects

PROJECT TITLE	LINK
MUSES	https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/727451
TROPOS	https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/288192
MERMAID	https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/288710
H2OCEAN	https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/288145
ORECCA	https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/241421
MARINA	https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/710566
MUSICA	https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/862252
ADRIPLAN	http://adriplan.eu/index.php
SEANERGY2020	https//maritime-spatial-planning.ec.europa.eu/key-words/seanergy-2020

European Maritime and Fisheries Fund

The European Maritime and Fisheries Fund has allocated funds totalling 133 mil Eur, to 153 projects involving 39 countries, and a total of 481 partnering organisations.

Specifically on the topics: Blue Economy, Blue Careers, Common Information Sharing Environment (CISE), Environmental Monitoring and Restoration, Sea Basin Cooperation, it has funded 60 projects; involving 224 partners, 54 coordinators, 31 countries, and a total of 38 mil Eur in funds:

Horizon 2020 Environment and resources data hub

Under the topic 'Climate Action' funded by the Horizon 2020 programme, a total of 80 projects were allocated a total of 487 mil Eur, distributed between 831 partners in 81 countries.

REFERENCES

¹ <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Glossary:Innovation</u>

² Leydesdorff, Loet (2012). "The Triple Helix of University-Industry-Government Relations (February 2012)". SSRN Working Paper Series. doi:10.2139/ssrn.1996760. ISSN 1556-5068.

³ Carayannis, Elias G.; Barth, Thorsten D.; Campbell, David F. J. (2012-08-08). "The Quintuple Helix innovation model: global warming as a challenge and driver for innovation". Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship. 1 (1): 2. doi:10.1186/2192-5372-1-2. ISSN 2192-5372.

⁴ Carayannis, Elias G.; Campbell, David F.J. (2009). "'Mode 3' and 'Quadruple Helix': toward a 21st century fractal innovation ecosystem". International Journal of Technology Management. 46 (3/4): 201. doi:10.1504/IJTM.2009.023374. ISSN 0267-5730

⁵ Peris-Ortiz, Marta; Ferreira, João; Farinha, Luís; Fernandes, Nuno (2016-05-27). "Introduction to Multiple Helix Ecosystems for Sustainable Competitiveness". Multiple helix ecosystems for sustainable competitiveness. Cham: Springer. pp. 1–14. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-29677-7. ISBN 978-3-319-29677-7. OCLC 950971633

⁶ GUIDELINES FOR LIVING LABS IN CLIMATE SERVICES – EU MACS". eu-macs.eu. Retrieved 2019-03-09.
 ⁷ hubavem (2013-12-04). "Open Innovation 2.0". Digital Single Market - European Commission. Retrieved 2019-03-09.

⁸ Blue Growth opportunities for marine and maritime sustainable growth COM(2012)494

⁹ Innovation in the Blue Economy: realizing the potential of our seas and oceans for jobs and growth COM(2014)254 final/2

¹⁰ Examples of programmes supporting innovation include the Innovation Union Flagship Initiative, the Competitiveness and Innovation Framework Programme for SMEs, and the Horizon 2020 programme, while a significant proportion of the EU's Structural and Investment Funds are earmarked for innovation. These programmes aim to address, in part, the perceived handicaps which innovation faces in Europe, such as lower level of investment in research and development, and difficulties in accessing finance/capital for innovative start-up initiatives. The programmes also try to mitigate the obstacles to growth in innovation caused by Europe's fragmentation into different national economies and regulatory frameworks, leading towards more European-wide coordinated policies in the area of innovation.

¹¹ On a new approach for a sustainable blue economy in the EU- Transforming the EU's Blue Economy for a Sustainable Future COM(2021)240 final

¹² The S3 Platform assists EU countries and regions to develop, implement and review their Research and Innovation Strategies for Smart Specialisation (RIS3) <u>https://s3platform.jrc.ec.europa.eu/what-we-do</u>

¹³ <u>https://interreg-med.eu/no-cache/news-events/news/detail/actualites/sustainable-blue-economy-dg-mare-events/</u>

¹⁴ The European Innovation Scoreboard provides a comparative assessment of the research and innovation performance of EU Member States and selected third countries, and the relative strengths and weaknesses of their research and innovation system.

¹⁵ <u>https://fiscot.org/fis-projects/real-time-reporting-app-fis032/</u>

¹⁶ Girard, P., Du Payrat, T., Issue Paper: An inventory of new technologies in fisheries, GGSD FORUM 2017

¹⁷ FAO, The state of world fisheries and aquaculture-contributing to food security and nutrition for all. Fisheries and aquaculture department, Rome 2016

¹⁸ Insects as a feed ingredient for fish culture: Status and trends, Aquaculture and Fisheries Volume 7, Issue 2, March 2022, Pages 166-178

¹⁹ D. Miller, K. Semmens, Waste management in aquaculture, Aquaculture Information Series (2002), pp. 1-10, #AQ02-1(January)

²⁰ Global Seafood Alliance: https://www.globalseafood.org/advocate/make-seafood-production-and-processing-more-responsive-and-responsible-sounds-like-a-job-for-ai/

²¹ <u>https://www.ocean-energy-systems.org/publications/oes-documents/market-policy-/document/offshore-aquaculture-a-market-for-ocean-renewable-energy./</u>

²² Land–Sea Interaction: Integrating Climate Adaptation Planning and Maritime Spatial Planning in the North Adriatic Basin, Denis Maragno, Carlo Federico dall'Omo, Gianfranco Pozzer, Niccolò Bassan, Francesco Musco, Sustainability 2020, 12, 5319; doi:10.3390/su12135319, <u>http://www.mdpi.com/journal/sustainability</u>

²³ Ministry of Environmental Protection and Regional Development of the Republic of Latvia. (2021). Multi-level Governance Agenda on Blue Economy and Spatial Planning in Baltic Sea Region (Main output of the Interreg Baltic Sea Region programme project #R098 Land-Sea-Act). https://land-sea.eu/results/

²⁴ Official Journal of the European Union. Directive 2008/56/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 June 2008 establishing a framework for community action in the field of marine environmental policy (Marine Strategy Framework Directive). Off. J. Eur. Union 2008

²⁵ Official Journal of the European Union. Directive 2014/89/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 July 2014 Establishing a framework for maritime spatial planning. Off. J. Eur. Union 2014

²⁶ Przedrzymirska, J.; Zaucha, J.; Calado, H.; Lukic, I.; Bocci, M.; Ramieri, E.; Varona, M.C.; Barbanti, A.; Depellegrin, D.; de Sousa Vergílio, M.; et al. Multi-Use of the Sea as a Sustainable Development Instrument in Five EU Sea Basins. Sustainability 2021, 13, 8159. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13158159</u>

²⁷ European Commission (2007). Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: An Integrated Maritime Policy for the European Union. COM(2007) 575 Final. Brussels: European Commission

²⁸ Schupp MF, Bocci M, Depellegrin D, Kafas A, Kyriazi Z, Lukic I, Schultz-Zehden A, Krause G, Onyango V and Buck BH (2019) Toward a Common Understanding of Ocean Multi-Use. Front. Mar. Sci. 6:165. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2019.00165

Technical Support to the EUSAIR Facility Point

²⁹ UK-MSP Working Group, 2005, Added value of marine spatial planning, County Agencies, Interagency MSP Working Group, United Kingdom, cited in Douvere F and C N Ehler, 2009, 78.

³⁰ Zaucha J., Bocci M., Depellegrin D., Lukic I., Buck B., Schupp M., Caña Varona M., Buchanan B., Kovacheva A., Karachle P.K., et al. (2016) Analytical Framework (AF) – Analysing Multi-Use (MU) in the European Sea Basins. Edinburgh: MUSES project

³¹ Kyvelou S. S. and lerapetritis D. (2019), Discussing and Analyzing "Maritime Cohesion" in MSP, to Achieve Sustainability in the Marine Realm, Sustainability, 22 June 2019

³² Schupp MF, Bocci M, Depellegrin D, Kafas A, Kyriazi Z, Lukic I, Schultz-Zehden A, Krause G, Onyango V and Buck BH (2019) Toward a Common Understanding of Ocean Multi-Use. Front. Mar. Sci. 6:165. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2019.00165
 ³³ Depellegrin D., Venier C., Kyriazi Z., Vassilopoulou V., Castellani C., Ramieri E., Bocci M., Fernandez J., Barbanti A.,(2019), Exploring Multi-Use potentials in the Euro-Mediterranean sea space, Science of the Total Environment 653 (2019) 612–629

³⁴ Zaucha J., Bocci M., Depellegrin D., Lukic I., Buck B., Schupp M., Caña Varona M., Buchanan B., Kovacheva A., Karachle P.K., et al. (2016) Analytical Framework (AF) – Analysing Multi-Use (MU) in the European Sea Basins. Edinburgh: MUSES project

³⁵ Schupp MF, Bocci M, Depellegrin D, Kafas A, Kyriazi Z, Lukic I, Schultz-Zehden A, Krause G, Onyango V and Buck BH (2019) Toward a Common Understanding of Ocean Multi-Use. Front. Mar. Sci. 6:165. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2019.00165
 ³⁶ Kyvelou S. S. and Ierapetritis D. (2019), Discussing and Analyzing "Maritime Cohesion" in MSP, to Achieve Sustainability in the Marine Realm, Sustainability, 22 June 2019

³⁷ <u>https://www.adrioninterreg.eu/</u>

38 https://adriadapt.eu/

³⁹ <u>https://interreg-med.eu/</u>

⁴⁰ https://ufmsecretariat.org/

⁴¹ https://planbleu.org/en/

42 https://www.cmimarseille.org/

⁴³ Depellegrin D, Menegon S, Farella G, Ghezzo M, Gissi E, Sarretta A, Venier C, Barbanti A. (2017) Multi-objective spatial tools to inform maritime spatial planning in the Adriatic Sea. Sci Total Environ. 2017 Dec 31;609:1627-1639. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.07.264. Epub 2017 Aug 8. PMID: 28810514.

⁴⁴ Clarke Murray, C., Agbayani, S., and Ban, N. C. (2015). Cumulative effects of planned industrial development and climate change on marine ecosystems.Glob. Ecol. Conserv. 4, 110–116. doi: 10.1016/j.gecco.2015.06.003

⁴⁵ Stuiver, M.; Soma, K.; Koundouri, P.; Van den Burg, S.; Gerritsen, A.; Harkamp, T.; Dalsgaard, N.; Zagonari, F.; Guanche, R.; Schouten, J.-J. The Governance of Multi-Use Platforms at Sea for Energy Production and Aquaculture: Challenges for Policy Makers in European Seas. Sustainability **2016**, *8*, 333

⁴⁶ Kyvelou S. S. and lerapetritis D. (2019), Discussing and Analyzing "Maritime Cohesion" in MSP, to Achieve Sustainability in the Marine Realm, Sustainability, 22 June 2019

⁴⁷ Jansen, H.M.; Van Den Burg, S.; Bolman, B.; Jak, R.G.; Kamermans, P.; Poelman, M.; Stuiver, M. (2016) The feasibility of offshore aquaculture and its potential for multi-use in the North Sea, Aquac. Int. 2016, 24, 735

⁴⁸ Stelzenmüller, V.; Diekmann, R.; Bastardie, F.; Schulze, T.; Berkenhagen, J.; Kloppmann, M.; Krause, G.;

Pogoda, B.; Buck, B.H.; Kraus, G. (2016) Co-location of passive gear fisheries in offshore wind farms in the German EEZ of the North Sea: A first socio-economic scoping. J. Environ. Manag. **2016**, 183, 794–805.

⁴⁹ Ministry of Environmental Protection and Regional Development of the Republic of Latvia. (2021). Multi-level Governance Agenda on Blue Economy and Spatial Planning in Baltic Sea Region (Main output of the Interreg Baltic Sea Region programme project #R098 Land-Sea-Act). https://land-sea.eu/results/

⁵⁰ Zanuttigh B., Angelelli E., Bellotti G., Romano A., Krontira Y., Troianos D., Suffredini R., Franceschi G., Cantù M., Airoldi L., Zagonari F., Taramelli A., Filipponi F., Jimenez C., Evriviadou M. and Broszeit S. (2015) Boosting Blue Growth in a Mild Sea: Analysis of the Synergies Produced by a Multi-Purpose Offshore Installation in the Northern Adriatic, Italy, Sustainability 2015, 7, 6804-6853; doi:10.3390/su7066804

⁵¹ Michler-Cieluch, T.; Krause, G.; Buck, B.H. (2009), Reflections on integrating operation and maintenance activities of offshore wind farms and mariculture. Ocean Coast. Manag. 2009, 52, 57–68

⁵² Michler-Cieluch, T.; Krause, G.; Buck, B.H. (2009), Reflections on integrating operation and maintenance activities of offshore wind farms and mariculture. Ocean Coast. Manag. 2009, 52, 57–68

⁵³ Stuiver, M.; Soma, K.; Koundouri, P.; Van den Burg, S.; Gerritsen, A.; Harkamp, T.; Dalsgaard, N.; Zagonari, F.; Guanche, R.; Schouten, J.-J. The Governance of Multi-Use Platforms at Sea for Energy Production and Aquaculture: Challenges for Policy Makers in European Seas. Sustainability **2016**, *8*, 333

⁵⁴ Ministry of Environmental Protection and Regional Development of the Republic of Latvia. (2021). Multi-level Governance Agenda on Blue Economy and Spatial Planning in Baltic Sea Region (Main output of the Interreg Baltic Sea Region programme project #R098 Land-Sea-Act). https://land-sea.eu/results/